IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Julio Bonilla,
Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Iowa Board of Parole,
Respondent-Appellee.

*APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR POLK COUNTY
HONORABLE DOUGLAS F. STASKAL*

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Rita Bettis Austen
ACLU of Iowa Foundation
505 Fifth Ave., Ste. 808
Des Moines, IA 50309
Phone: (515) 243-3988
Fax: (515) 243-8506
Email: rita.bettis@aclu-ia.org

Steven Macpherson Watt*
ACLU Foundation
125 Broad St., 18th Fl.
New York, NY 10004
Phone: (212) 519-7870
Email: swatt@aclu.org

Angela L. Campbell
Dickey & Campbell Law Firm, P.L.C.

301 East Walnut, Suite 1
Des Moines, Iowa 50309
Telephone: 515.288.5008
Email: Angela@dickeycampbell.com

Gordon E. Allen

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the district court erred in ruling that the protections against cruel and unusual punishment, due process, and right to counsel categorically do not apply to juvenile offenders before the Board of Parole.**

Authorities

State v. Louisell, 865 N.W. 590 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Code §17A.19 (2018)

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 9

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 10

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 17

U.S. Constitution, Amendment IIX

U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV

State v. Bonilla, No. 05-0596, 2006 WL 3313783 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 2006)

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)

Bonilla v. State, 791 N.W.2d 697 (Iowa 2010)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W. 378, 398 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Propps, 897 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 2017)

Gartner v. Iowa Dept. of Public Health, 830 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 2013)

NextEra Energy Resources, LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd., 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Ragland, 836 N.Ws.2d 107 (Iowa 2013)

Burton v. Hilltop Care Ctr., 813 N.W.2d 250 (Iowa 2012)

Klein v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n, 829 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013 (unpublished decision))

Baker v. City of Wellman, 870 N.W.2d 273, 2015 WL 2393450 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015)

Harrison v. Employment Appeal Bd., 659 N.W.2d 581 (Iowa 2003)

Hicok v. Iowa Employment Appeal Bd., 808 N.W.2d 755, 2011 WL 5391652 (Iowa Ct. App. 2011)

Birchansky Real Estate, L.C. v. Iowa Dept. of Public Health, 737 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2007)

Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Serv., 412 N.W.2d 904 (Iowa 1987)

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005)

Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S. Ct. 718, ___ U.S. ___, ___ (2016),
as revised (Jan. 27, 2016)

Greiman v. Hodges, 79 F.Supp.3d 933 (S.D. Iowa 2015)

Sarah French Russell, *Review for Release: Juvenile Offenders, State Parole Practices, and the Eighth Amendment*, 89 Ind. L. J. 373, 406-27 (2014)

Hill v. Snyder, No. 10-14568 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 26, 2013)

Solem v. Helms, 463 U.S. 277 (1983)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

2. **Whether the district court erred in ruling that the specific procedural and substantive due process safeguards articulated in Bonilla’s nine motions to the Board were not necessary to ensure that he was afforded a realistic and meaningful opportunity for release on parole.**

Authorities

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)

Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012)

Sarah French Russell, *Review for Release: Juvenile Offenders, State Parole Practices, and the Eighth Amendment*, 89 Ind. L. J. 373, 406-27 (2014)

Greiman v. Hodges, 79 F.Supp.3d 933 (S.D. Iowa 2015)

Greenholtz v. Inmates of Neb. Penal and Corr. Complex, 442 U.S. 1 (1979)

Vitek v. Jones, 445 U.S. 480 (1980)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013)

Mathews v. Elridge, 424 US 319 (1976)

Cleveland Bd. Of Educ. v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532 (1985)

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 9

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 10

Iowa Constitution, article I, section 17

U.S. Constitution, Amendment IIX

U.S. Constitution, Amendment XIV

State v. Sweet, 879 N.W.2d 811 (Iowa 2016)

Hutto v. Finney, 437 U.S. 678 (1987)

Herrera v. Collins, 506 U.S. 390 (1993)

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 54–125a

Code of Mass. Regs. § 300.08

Ann. Cal. Penal Code § 3041.7

Haw. Admin. Rules § 23-700-32(b)

Diatchenko v. Dist. Attorney for Suffolk Dist., 27 N.E.3d 349 (Mass. 2015)

State v. Young, 863 N.W.2d 249 (Iowa 2015)

Iowa Admin. Code. R. 205-11.7

Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471 (1972)

State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

Elizabeth Scott et al., *Juvenile Sentencing Reform in a Constitutional Framework*, 88 Temp. L. Rev. 675 (2016)

Jamie Fellner, Essay, *a Corrections Quandary: Mental Illness and Prison Rules*, 41 Harv. Law Rev. 391 (2006)

Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68 (1985)

Tuggle v. Netherland, 516 U.S. 10 (1995)

Iowa Code section 906.5 (2018)

Iowa Admin. Code. R. 205-8.8

Iowa Admin. Code. R. 205-8.12

Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970)

Califano v. Yamasaki, 442 U.S. 682 (1979)

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-1.2

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-8.14

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-8.8

Boyde v. California, 494 U.S. 370 (1990)

Mccleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279 (1987)

Skipper v. South Carolina, 476 U.S. 1 (1986)

Neb. Rev. Stat. § 83-1,110.04

Haw. Admin. Rules § 23-700-32(b)

Walker v. Prisoner Review Bd., 694 F.2d 499 (7th Cir. 1982)

Greenholtz v. Inmates of Neb. Penal and Corr. Complex, 442 U.S. 1 (1979)

Leonard v. Mississippi State Probation and Parole Board, 373 F.Supp. 699 (N.D. Miss. 1974), Rev'd, 509 F.2d 820 (C.A.5), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 998 (1975)

In re Rodriguez, 14 Cal.3d 639, 122 Cal.Rptr. 552, 537 P.2d 384 (Cal. 1975)

State v. Pohlbel, 61 N.J.Super. 242, 160 A.2d 647 (N.J. 1960)

Gardner v. Florida, 430 U.S. 349 (1977)

John G. Douglas, *Confronting Death: Sixth Amendment Rights at Capital Sentencing*, 105 Colum. L. Rev. 1967 (2005)

Chandler v. Moore, 240 F.3d 907 (11th Cir. 2001)

Del Vecchio v. Ill. Dep't. of Corrections, 31 F.3d 1363 (7th Cir. 1994)

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-8.11

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-8.10

Backstrom v. Iowa Dist. Ct. For Jones Cnty., 508 N.W.2d 705 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Lyle, 854 N.W. 378 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 545 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Roby, 897 N.W.2d 127 (Iowa 2017)

Conn. Gen. Stat. § 54-125a(f)(4)

W. Va. Code § 62-12-13b(b)

Ann. Cal. Penal Code § 4801(c)

Emily A. Whitney, Note, *Correctional Rehabilitation Programs and the Adoption of International Standards: How the United States Can Reduce Recidivism and Promote the National Interest*, 18 *Transnat'l L. & Contemp. Probs.* 777 (2009)

J.M. Kirby, Note, *Graham, Miller, & The Right to Hope*, 15 *CUNY L. Rev.* 149 (2011)

Cooper v. Gwinn, 298 S.E.2d 781 (W.Va. 1981)

Abraham v. State, 585 P.2d 526 (Ak. 1978)

Wash. Rev. Stat. § 10.95.030(3)

Ann. Cal. Penal Code § 3041(a)

Iowa Admin. Code R. 205-8.16

Megan Annitto, *Graham's Gatekeeper and Beyond*, 80 *Brook. L. Rev.* 119 (2014)

Swarthout v. Cooke, 562 U.S. 216 (2011)

- 3. Whether the district court improperly applied the reasoning in *Zarate* to dismiss Bonilla's claims.**

Authorities

State v. Zarate, 908 N.W.2d 831 (Iowa 2018)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Iowa Supreme Court should retain this case because it presents “substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of” the procedures used by the Iowa Board of Parole (“Board”) when reviewing juvenile offenders, as well as “substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principals.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

In *State v. Louisell*, this Court was asked but declined to decide whether a sentence of life-with-the-possibility-of-parole imposed on a juvenile offender became a *de facto* life-without-parole (“LWOP”) sentence if Board procedures did not provide such an applicant with a realistic and meaningful opportunity for release based upon their demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. 865 N.W. 590, 602 (Iowa 2015). While recognizing that Board procedures do not “account for the mitigating attributes of youth that are constitutionally required sentencing considerations,” the procedural posture of the case did not require

that the Court address the constitutionality of Board procedures as applied to juvenile offenders. *Id.*

In this appeal, Bonilla properly and squarely presents those issues. He asks this Court to find that the Board must provide him with a parole review process that affords him a realistic and meaningful opportunity for release based on his demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation, and to elaborate on the specific procedures the Board must follow to guarantee Bonilla and other juvenile offenders like him a constitutionally compliant parole review process.¹

B. Procedural History

Bonilla filed this Petition for Judicial Review on September 14, 2016, pursuant to Iowa Code §17A.19 (2018). He challenges

¹ While Bonilla is a juvenile offender who committed a nonhomicide offense, this Court should find that Board procedures should apply equally to juvenile offenders who commit homicide offenses. This would be consistent with this Court's holding in *State v. Sweet*, where the Court categorically prohibited LWOP sentences under article I, section 17 for juvenile offenders who commit homicide offences. 879 N.W.2d 811, 839 (Iowa 2016). In so doing, this Court removed from the district court the responsibility of determining whether a juvenile offender is capable of rehabilitation or is "irretrievably corrupt," and instead placed that responsibility solely with the Board. *Id.* at 837.

the parole review practices and formal regulations (collectively “procedures”) used by the Board in reviewing juvenile offenders because they violate article 1, sections 9, 10, and 17 of the Iowa Constitution and the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. App. 6-19. The Board filed a pre-answer Motion to Dismiss on October 2, 2016, App. 21-25, which, following briefing and oral argument on November 15, 2016, the district court denied on January 5, 2017. App. 62-66. On March 14, 2018, the district court denied Bonilla’s petition for judicial review on the merits and dismissed this action. App. 180-93. Bonilla timely filed a Notice of Appeal on March 19, 2018. App. 195-96.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2005, Bonilla was convicted of kidnapping in the first degree for a crime he committed in 2002, when he was sixteen years old. Bonilla was initially punished with an LWOP sentence. *See State v. Bonilla*, No. 05-0596, 2006 WL 3313783 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 2006). Then, following the elimination of LWOP for juvenile offenders convicted of nonhomicide offenses in *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), Bonilla was resentenced in 2011 to

life imprisonment *with* the possibility of parole. *Bonilla v. State*, 791 N.W.2d 697 (Iowa 2010) (applying *Graham* retroactively to Bonilla).

While incarcerated, Bonilla has taken significant steps toward his rehabilitation and has had minimal recent disciplinary issues. He has completed numerous rehabilitative programs, such as the “Alternative to Violence” program, where he served as a group facilitator. He would like to enroll in additional programming—for example, sex offender treatment and the Grinnell college program—but the state has refused to permit his participation.

At his annual parole hearing on June 17, 2016, Bonilla sought nine procedural and substantive rights, each of which is necessary to ensure his constitutionally protected right to a parole review process; one that provides him with a realistic and meaningful opportunity to demonstrate his maturity and rehabilitation. Specifically, Bonilla sought: (1) the appointment of counsel; (2) an independent psychological evaluation; (3) an in-person parole review hearing; (4) an opportunity to present

evidence of rehabilitation; (5) access to all information used by the Board in making its decision and an opportunity to challenge such information; (6) exclusion of any information in support of his continued incarceration that is not verifiable and was not subjected to a fact-finding procedure at the time it was obtained; (7) proper consideration mitigating factors established by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012); (8) access to treatment and programming; and (9) procedures to ensure future meaningful review in the event of his being denied release on parole. App. 235-414.

At Bonilla's July 28, 2016 paper-file review, the Board stated that there was no motion practice before it for Bonilla to assert these nine rights, and subsequently refused to grant (by refusing to even consider) any of the motions. App. 410, 422. Instead, the Board logged them as correspondence in support of Bonilla's release by the Board. App. 410. Bonilla appealed the summary denial of his motions to the Board, and the Board issued its final agency action on August 24, 2016, denying Bonilla's appeal. Appeal Response (Aug. 24, 2016); App. 411-14; 422.

While the Board has taken the position that “many of the procedural accommodations Bonilla seeks were already subsumed within existing Board policies and procedures,” Appellee Br. at 21, as discussed below in turn, the Board provided Bonilla with none of the nine safeguards he sought, thus depriving him of a constitutionally compliant parole review process.

To be clear, in this appeal, Bonilla does not assert that the Board should have released him. Rather, Bonilla seeks constitutionally required changes to Board procedures to ensure that the process the Board uses to evaluate him and other juvenile offenders who appear before it is both realistic and meaningful as required by the U.S. and Iowa Constitutions.

ARGUMENT

A. Introduction

The State continues to subject Bonilla to disproportionate punishment and to deprive him of due process of law and his right to counsel because the current Board procedures deny him a realistic and meaningful opportunity for release on parole based upon his demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.

The district court erred in dismissing Bonilla’s petition for judicial review because it determined that the protections Bonilla sought were not constitutionally required. App. 193. The district court further erred by interpreting this Court’s decision in *Propps* to mean that, once a juvenile had been sentenced, the Board did not need to consider the mitigating attributes of youth. App. 192. In so doing, the district court drew an artificial distinction between sentencing and parole procedures for juvenile offenders, finding that the holdings in *Graham*, *Miller*, and *Montgomery* only govern juvenile sentencing, not parole procedures. But the protections of the Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and article I, section 17 of the Iowa Constitution govern all forms of punishment, including sentences with or without the possibility of parole. *See Miller* 567 U.S. at 465 (“hold[ing] ... mandatory life without parole for those under age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel and unusual *punishments*.’” (emphasis added)). As this Court’s recent decisions addressing juvenile punishment make clear, juvenile offenders must receive individualized punishments that take into

consideration the mitigating attributes of youth. *See State v. Lyle*, 854 N.W. 378, 398, 340 (Iowa 2014) (holding that all statutorily-imposed mandatory minimum sentences for juveniles who commit both nonhomicide and homicide offenses are unconstitutional under article I, section 17); *State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013) (finding *Miller* principles are independently rooted in the Iowa Constitution, and are applicable to all lengthy sentences for juvenile offenders who commit nonhomicide offenses or homicide offenses.)

Despite these rulings, post-*Graham*, *Miller*, *Null*, and *Lyle* Iowa's parole procedures for juvenile offenders remain substantially unchanged and thus unconstitutional.

Moreover, in *Sweet*, this Court recognized that the Board was better suited than the district court to determine if juvenile offenders had matured and rehabilitated to the point that they were fit for release; because the Board "has the benefit of seeing the individual offender's actual behavior." *State v. Propps*, 897 N.W.2d 91, 102 (Iowa 2017) (describing the holding of *Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d at 837). Thus, the district court erred by interpreting

Sweet and *Propps* to mean that the Board can ignore the fact that Bonilla was a juvenile when he committed his offense and instead simply review him as it would an adult offender. App. 192. *Sweet* requires the opposite: the Board must treat juvenile offenders differently from their adult counterparts, by providing them with a parole review process that provides them with a realistic and meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on their demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.

Bonilla challenges the agency action under Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(a) (unconstitutional on its face or as applied); §17A.19(10)(d) (based on procedure or decision-making prohibited by law or without following the prescribed procedure or decision-making process); §17A.19(10)(c) (based upon an erroneous interpretation of law not clearly vested in the discretion of the agency); 17A.19(10)(j) (product of decision-making process in which the agency did not consider a relevant and important matter related to the propriety or desirability of the action in question); and §17A.19(10)(n) (otherwise unreasonable, arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion).

B. Error Preservation

Bonilla preserved error on each of his 17A claims before the Board and on judicial review to the district court, which denied them. App. 80-83; App. 180-93.

C. Standards of Review

The relevant standards of review differ for the asserted bases for review asserted under 17A:

1. Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(a) (unconstitutional on its face or as applied)

Review on constitutional questions raised in agency proceedings is *de novo*. *Gartner v. Iowa Dept. of Public Health*, 830 N.W.2d 335 (Iowa 2013); *NextEra Energy Resources, LLC v. Iowa Utilities Bd.*, 815 N.W.2d 30 (Iowa 2012). *See also State v. Ragland*, 836 N.W.2d 107, 113 (Iowa 2013) (allegedly unconstitutional sentence reviewed *de novo*). Thus, no deference is due to the Board by this Court on the substantive question of whether the Board must provide Bonilla with realistic and meaningful opportunity for release or whether the nine specific procedural safeguards Bonilla sought and which the Board

denied are required to ensure the parole review process meets that constitutional demand.

2. Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(c) (erroneous interpretation of law not clearly vested in discretion of agency)

When the agency is not vested with the authority to interpret the law, then the agency's action based on its own interpretation is not entitled to deference; section 17A.19(10)(c) applies, and review is for correction of errors at law. *NextEra*, 815 N.W.2d at 36–37.

A court determines whether an agency possesses legislative interpretive authority on a case-by-case, phrase-by-phrase basis, and does not make “broad articulations of an agency’s authority.” *Burton v. Hilltop Care Ctr.*, 813 N.W.2d 250, 256 (Iowa 2012). Moreover, on judicial review, a court “[s]hall not give any deference to the view of the agency with respect to whether particular matters have been vested by a provision of law in the discretion of the agency.” Iowa Code § 17A.19(11)(a). The grant of authority must be “clearly vested” with the agency, whether impliedly or expressly. *See id.*

3. Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(d) (decision-making prohibited by law)

The Court reviews the final agency action challenged for the procedure or decision-making process used under Iowa Code 17A.19(10)(d) for correction of errors at law. *Klein v. Dubuque Human Rights Comm'n*, 829 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa Ct. App. 2013) (unpublished opinion).

4. Iowa Code §17A.19(10)(j) (agency did not consider a relevant and important matter)

In cases in which section 17A.19(10)(j) is raised as a ground for reversal, the court “review[s] the case to correct errors of law on the part of the agency when ‘the agency did not consider a relevant and important matter relating to the propriety or desirability of the action in question that a rational decision maker in similar circumstances would have considered prior to taking that action.’” *See, e.g., Baker v. City of Wellman*, 870 N.W.2d 273, 2015 WL 2393450, *2 (Iowa Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Harrison v. Employment Appeal Bd.*, 659 N.W.2d 581, 586 (Iowa 2003) (on a different provision of 17A)). The court engages in a “close reading of the board’s findings of fact” to determine “its

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