**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

**NO. 18-0477**

---

**JULIO BONILLA,**

**Petitioner - Appellant,**

**vs.**

**IOWA BOARD OF PAROLE,**

**Respondent - Appellee.**

---

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
HONORABLE DOUGLAS F. STASKAL, JUDGE**

---

**APPELLEE IOWA BOARD OF PAROLE'S  
FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

**THOMAS J. MILLER  
ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA**

**JOHN R. LUNDQUIST  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
Ph: (515) 281-3658  
Fax: (515) 281-4209  
E-mail: [john.lundquist@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:john.lundquist@ag.iowa.gov)**

**

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

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. THE IOWA BOARD OF PAROLE’S CASE REVIEW PROCEDURES CONSTITUTIONALLY OFFER JUVENILE OFFENDERS LIKE BONILLA A MEANINGFUL OPPORTUNITY FOR PAROLE RELEASE.**

Standard of Review: The Court’s standard of review is to correct errors of law committed by the district court. *E.g., Houck v. Iowa Bd. of Pharmacy Exam’rs*, 752 N.W.2d 14, 16 (Iowa 2008); *Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep’t of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 830 (Iowa 2002). When scrutinizing the propriety of a district court’s judicial review ruling, the Court applies the standards of Iowa Code section 17A.19(10) to the

challenged agency action to determine whether its conclusions are the same as those of the district court. *Litterer v. Judge*, 644 N.W.2d 357, 360-61 (Iowa 2002); *see Greenwood Manor*, 641 N.W.2d at 830. Because parole release deliberations are not “contested cases” within the context of Iowa Code chapter 17A, the Court is to apply the standard of review applicable to “other agency action” to Bonilla’s claims. *See Iowa Code § 906.3; Johnson*, 635 N.W.2d at 489; *see also Greenwood Manor*, 641 N.W.2d at 834.

Constitutional claims brought under Iowa Code chapter 17A are reviewed *de novo*. *Houck*, 752 N.W.2d at 17. As the party making a facial challenge to Iowa’s statutorily defined parole procedures, Bonilla bears a heavy burden because he must prove the unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. *E.g., State v. Seering*, 701 N.W.2d 655, 661 (Iowa 2005); *State v. Hernandez-Lopez*, 639 N.W.2d 226, 233 (Iowa 2002). Statutory enactments are cloaked with a presumption of constitutionality. *Id.* Bonilla must refute every reasonable basis upon which the parole statute could be found to be constitutional. *Id.* If the statute is capable of being construed in more than one manner, one of which is constitutional, a reviewing court must adopt that construction. *Id.*

Finally, as in any Iowa Code chapter 17A judicial review proceeding, “[t]he burden of demonstrating the required prejudice and the invalidity of

agency action is on the party asserting invalidity.” Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(a). Consequently, it is Bonilla’s burden to demonstrate that the Board’s case review procedures violated applicable law and prejudiced his rights. *See Hill v. Fleetguard, Inc.*, 705 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005).

Preservation of Error: The question of whether Iowa’s parole review procedures on their face constitutionally provide juvenile offenders serving life sentences with the possibility of parole – like Bonilla – their “meaningful opportunity” for parole release based upon demonstrated rehabilitation and maturity was raised below following exhaustion of applicable administrative remedies<sup>1</sup> and ultimately decided by the District Court. (*See R.* at 1-175, 497-511 – Procedural Motions; 177-80 – 7/6/2016 Appeal of Agency Action / Rulings on Motions; 188 – 8/24/2016 Appeal Response; Petition; Ruling; App. 235-409, 731-745; 411-414; 422; 6-20; 180-194). Error on this question was accordingly preserved for appellate review.

To the extent that Bonilla now seeks appellate review of the constitutionality of the Board’s actual application of its parole review procedures to his specific facts and circumstances, error was not preserved,

---

<sup>1</sup> Regardless, this Court has ruled that exhaustion of administrative remedies is not required where a petitioner is solely challenging the facial constitutional validity of a statute under which an agency is proceeding. *See Tindal v. Norman*, 427 N.W.2d 871, 872-73 (Iowa 1988).

and review is foreclosed due both to Bonilla's failure to exhaust applicable administrative remedies before the Board and the District Court's failure to rule upon any such claim. Timely exhaustion of the Board's administrative appeal process and specific presentation of an alleged error is required before a court acquires authority to hear that claim on judicial review. *E.g.*, *Ghost Player, L.L.C. v. State*, 860 N.W.2d 323, 326 (Iowa 2015); *Johnson*, 635 N.W.2d at 489 ("it is implicit in the Iowa Administrative Code that the administrative remedy must be exhausted before further appeal"). The only administrative appeal brought by Bonilla in this matter predated his July 28, 2016 parole review and only addressed the Board's failure to enter a ruling on his nine procedural motions. (*See* R. at 177-80; App. 411-414). Bonilla has not appealed the Board's conduct of any specific parole review or the results thereof through the Board's administrative appeal process.

Furthermore, the District Court's ruling was limited solely to answering whether "the current statutory and regulatory parole system in Iowa, *on its face*, denies juvenile offenders a meaningful opportunity for release." (Ruling at 14 (emphasis added); App. 193). Bonilla did not seek to expand or enlarge the District Court's findings through a Rule 1.904 motion or other means. Consequently, any constitutional challenge that the Board misapplied its otherwise valid parole review procedures to him

individually is not preserved for appellate review. *See, e.g., Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) (“When a district court fails to rule on an issue properly raised by a party, the party who raised the issue must file a motion requesting a ruling in order to preserve error for appeal.”).

Argument: The Board is not violating the constitutionally protected rights of any juvenile offender serving a life prison term with the possibility of parole – including Bonilla’s – by using the statutorily defined review process and eligibility criteria to evaluate their present suitability for parole release. The Board’s parole review procedures fairly afford all such juvenile offenders a realistic and meaningful opportunity to obtain parole based upon their demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation. While the additional procedural accommodations Bonilla now seeks may reflect idealized best practices for all parole reviews conducted by the Board, none are constitutionally compelled. The District Court’s ruling that “there is no basis on this record to conclude that the current statutory and regulatory parole system in Iowa, on its face, denies juvenile offenders a meaningful opportunity for release” should accordingly be affirmed. (Ruling at 14; App. 193).

### *Meaningful Opportunity*

“[U]nder both the United States Constitution and the Iowa Constitution, juveniles convicted of crimes must be afforded a ‘meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation’” if parole is available to that offender. *State v. Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d 590, 602 (Iowa 2015) (citing *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 75 (2010); see *State v. Propps*, 897 N.W.2d 91, 100 (Iowa 2017). While initially unclear what the United States Supreme Court precisely meant in *Graham* by requiring states to provide “some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation,” it held in *Montgomery v. Louisiana* that the mere act of allowing juvenile offenders “to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity – and who have since matured – will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 136 S. Ct. 718, 736 (2016); see also *Diatchenko v. District Attorney for Suffolk Dist.*, 27 N.E.3d 349, 370 (Mass. 2015) (Spina, J. dissenting) (“The Supreme Court specifically identified traditional parole hearings as capable of providing that ‘meaningful opportunity to obtain release.’”).

This Court has posited that at a minimum, “a meaningful opportunity must be *realistic*.” *Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d at 602 (citing *Graham*, 560 U.S. at

82); *see, e.g., State v. Graham*, 897 N.W.2d 476, 488 (Iowa 2017). The Court has further counseled that “[t]he prospect of geriatric release, if one is to be afforded the opportunity for release at all, does not provide a ‘meaningful opportunity’ to demonstrate the ‘maturity and rehabilitation’ required to obtain release and reenter society as required by *Graham*.” *State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71 (Iowa 2013); *see Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 99. As the entity responsible for administering Iowa’s indeterminate sentencing scheme, the Board indisputably plays a part in ensuring that a juvenile offender’s “meaningful opportunity” for release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation can in fact be timely realized. *See Iowa Code* § 904A.4.

Yet, only a realistic and meaningful *opportunity* to demonstrate maturity and rehabilitation is required. *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 101-02. A sentence of life in prison with parole does not guarantee actual release on parole. *E.g., State v. Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d 811, 839 (Iowa 2016); *Seats v. State*, 865 N.W.2d 545, 557 (Iowa 2015). Nor must release on parole be immediate. *See Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 101. “Once the court sentences a juvenile to life in prison with the possibility of parole, the decision to release the juvenile is up to the parole board. *Iowa Code* § 904A.4. If the parole board does not find the juvenile is a candidate for release, the juvenile may

well end up serving his or her entire life in prison.” *Seats*, 865 N.W.2d at 557; *see also Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d at 841-42; *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 75 (“It bears emphasis, however, that while the Eighth Amendment forbids a State from imposing a life without parole sentence on a juvenile nonhomicide offender, it does not require the State to release that offender during his natural life.”). Ultimately, “the juvenile defendant’s behavior in prison dictates when parole will be available – with the potential for immediate parole if rehabilitation, maturity, and reform have been demonstrated.” *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 102; *see, e.g., Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d 839 (“[T]hose who over time show irredeemable corruption will no doubt spend their lives in prison.”).

Given its statutory charge that it shall release all who, in the Board’s informed opinion can be released without detriment to the community or to themselves, immediate eligibility for parole upon the parameters outlined in Iowa Code section 906.5 has been deemed “both realistic and meaningful.” *Propps*, 897 N.W.2d at 102 (majority opinion); *see also Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d at 841-42 (Wiggins, J. concurring specially); *Louisell*, 865 N.W.2d at 602 n.11. Once a juvenile offender sentenced to a life term with the possibility of parole discharges any applicable mandatory minimum term of incarceration imposed by the sentencing court, that offender is immediately



eligible for parole release and is scheduled to commence regular Board reviews. *See* Iowa Code §§ 906.4(1), 906.5(1). Accordingly, the Board has reasonably applied to those juvenile offenders who, like Bonilla, have been resentenced under *Graham* and *Miller* to life terms with parole eligibility, the statutorily prescribed procedures and standard for granting parole release delineated in Iowa Code chapter 906.

### *Sentencing versus Parole*

By demanding that the Board provide juvenile offenders serving life sentences the procedural equivalent of a capitol sentencing hearing at each and every parole review, Bonilla unreasonably conflates the purposes and objectives of sentencing with the grant of parole. Unlike sentencing, which falls within the power of the judiciary, “parole decisions are legitimately within the discretion of the executive branch.” *Doe v. State*, 688 N.W.2d 265, 271 (Iowa 2004). For those juveniles serving life sentences with parole eligibility, the Board is not donning the mantle of sentencing court. As the District Court concisely noted, “sentencing and parole are different.” (Ruling at 13; App. 192). While the Board has an important part in ensuring that the ideals of *Graham* and *Miller* are realized in Iowa for those juvenile offenders serving life sentences who truly mature and rehabilitate, the standards applicable to the Board’s identification of worthy release

candidates and the information available to it when doing so differs greatly from that of a criminal sentencing court.

This Court found in *Sweet* that a sentencing court is tasked under *Miller* with the near impossible undertaking of *predicting* future behavior in an effort to accurately detect those young offenders who truly are irredeemably depraved and undeserving of ever having an opportunity for release. *See Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d at 837 (“[W]e are asking the sentencer to do the impossible, namely, to determine whether the offender is ‘irretrievably corrupt’ at a time when even trained professionals with years of clinical experience would not attempt to make such a determination.”). The procedural protections owed to a juvenile offender when that offender is facing the possibility of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole at sentencing is understandably great given that that single sentencing hearing has the potential to foreclose forever that offender’s possibility of a future release. *See Sweet* 879 N.W.2d at 831 (“Life without the possibility of parole is ‘a forfeiture that is irrevocable,’ depriving the convict of the most basic liberties without hope of restoration except in the remote possibility of executive clemency.”).

The Board, however, is charged with identifying those persons who through their *actual* behavior and actions in prison have demonstrated

sufficient maturity and rehabilitation as to convince the Board they can be released without posing a danger to themselves or the public. *See* Iowa Code § 906.4(1). Rather than engage in the speculative up-front decision making demanded of a sentencing court, any Board determination of irredeemable corruption will be based upon concrete and long-term observations and known data collected after the time the juvenile character is no longer a work in progress. *See Sweet*, 879 N.W.2d at 839 (“The parole board will be better able to discern whether the offender is irreparably corrupt after time has passed, after opportunities for maturation and rehabilitation have been provided, and after a record of success or failure in the rehabilitative process is available.”). Consequently, “the parole board, not the sentencer, is in the best position to determine whether the offender is incorrigibly corrupt.” *State v. Zarate*, 908 N.W.2d 831, 842 (Iowa 2018).

A sentencing court is only given one opportunity to gather the information needed to render its final, irreversible sentence. Conversely, the Board conducts parole reviews at least annually commencing upon the expiration of any applicable minimum sentence. *See* Iowa Code § 906.5(1). In doing so, the Board affords offenders repeated opportunities to demonstrate their evolving maturity and rehabilitation and to present new information to the Board as it becomes available.

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